

# Student Code of Conduct 2020 - 2023



Queensland Government

## Every student succeeding

Every student succeeding is the shared vision of Queensland state schools. Our vision shapes regional and school planning to ensure every student receives the support needed to belong to the school community, engage purposefully in learning and experience academic success.

Queensland Department of Education State Schools Strategy 2020-2024

# **Contact Information**

Postal address:	26 Vivaldi Place Mackenzie 4156
Phone:	07 3420 2111
Email:	admin@mackenzies.eq.edu.au
School website address:	https://mackenziess.eq.edu.au/Pages/default.aspx
Contact Person:	Gina Bryant (Principal)

# Endorsement

Principal Name:	Gina Bryant
Principal Signature:	
Date:	20.11.2020
P/C President and-or School Council Chair Name:	Lisa Smithson
P/C President and-or School Council Chair Signature:	
Date:	20.11.2020

# Contents

Purpose		4
Whole School Approach to Discipline		5
	Community Consultation	5
	PBL Expectations	6
	Consideration of Individual Circumstances	11
	Differentiated and Explicit Teaching	12
	Focused Teaching	13
	Intensive Teaching	14
Legislativ	ve Delegations	15
	Legislation	15
	Delegations	15
Disciplina	ary Consequences	16
School P	olicies	23
	Temporary removal of student property	23
	Use of mobile phones and other devices by students	25
	Preventing and responding to bullying	27
	Appropriate use of social media	34
Restrictiv	ve Practices	36
Critical In	ncidents	37
Resource	25	38
Conclusio	on	39
Appendix	< A	40
	Mackenzie State Primary School Expectation Matrix	41
	SOAR Expectation Posters	42
	SOAR Reward Certificate - Example	43
	SOAR Reward Card - Example	44
Appendix B		45
	Mackenzie State Primary School Behaviour Flow Chart	45
	Mackenzie State Primary School Major and Minor Document	47
	Think About It Card and Reflection Card - Example	50



## Purpose

Mackenzie State Primary School is committed to providing a safe, respectful and supportive learning environment for all students, staff, parents and visitors. Our staff share the high expectations that all students can learn. We believe that positive, respectful and caring interactions are key to relationships between students, staff and broader school community.

The Mackenzie State Primary School Student Code of Conduct sets out the responsibilities and processes we use in our school to promote a productive and inclusive whole school approach that supports student behaviour..

Its purpose is to facilitate high standards of behaviour from all in the school community, ensuring learning and teaching in our school is prioritised, where all students are able to experience success and staff enjoy a safe workplace.



# Whole School Approach to Discipline

Mackenzie State Primary School uses Positive Behaviour for Learning (PBL) as the multitiered system of support for discipline in the school. This is a whole-school approach, used in all classrooms and programs offered through the school, including sporting activities and excursions.

PBL is an evidence-based framework used to:

- analyse and improve student behaviour and learning outcomes
- ensure that only evidence-based practices are used correctly by teachers to support students
- continually support staff members to maintain consistent school and classroom improvement practices.

At Mackenzie State Primary School we believe that student behaviour is a part of the overall teaching and learning approach in our school. Our staff take responsibility for making their expectations clear, for providing supportive instruction about how to meet these expectations and strive to use behavioural incidents as opportunities to re-teach.

The development of the Mackenzie State Primary School Student Code of Conduct is an opportunity to explain the PBL framework with parents and students, and gain their support to implement a consistent approach to teaching behaviour. The language and expectations of PBL can be used in any environment, including the home setting for students. Doing everything we can do to set students up for success is a shared goal of every parent and school staff member.

Any students or parents who have questions or would like to discuss the Student Code of Conduct or PBL are encouraged to speak with the class teacher or make an appointment to meet with the principal.

## **Community Consultation**

During 2020 we consulted with a focus group consisting of a parent and staff representative from each year level. In 2021, we will extend this process to include regular updates and consultation with the broader Mackenzie State Primary School Community.



## **PBL Expectations**

Mackenzie State Primary School staff are committed to delivering a high quality of education for every student, and believe all adults in the school, whether visiting or working, should meet the same four Positive Behaviour for Learning (PBL) expectations in place for students.

At Mackenzie we believe that everyone can SOAR.

- Safe We are Safe:
  - o We keep our hands, feet, bodies and objects to ourselves
  - We are in the right place at the right time
  - We move around our classroom and school safely by walking
  - We line up outside, quietly and orderly
  - We use equipment the right way
  - We wear our hats outside
  - On-Task We are On-Task: Ready and Responsible:
    - o We arrive at school rested and ready to learn
    - We have our equipment ready and organised
    - We give our best efforts to all our tasks
    - We use an appropriate voice level
    - We go to the toilet and have a drink during breaks
    - We only bring approved items to school
- Attitude of Honour We have an Attitude of Honour:
  - o We include and cooperate with others when we learn and play
  - $\circ$   $\,$  We value people because they are unique and special
  - o We accept responsibility for our behaviour when we learn and play
  - To solve problems we use The Mackenzie 3: Stop, Move, Report
  - We wear our uniform with pride and keep ourselves neat and tidy
- Respect We show Respect:
  - We use kind words and actions
  - o We listen actively and follow instructions
  - We care for our own and others' property
  - We carefully put our rubbish in the bin
  - o We care for our environment by protecting the gardens and wildlife

At Mackenzie State Primary School communication of expected behaviour for learning is systematic, and engagement in these behaviours is reinforced through a system of feedback.

A formal recognition and monitoring system has been developed. This reinforcement system is designed to increase the quantity and quality of positive interactions between students and staff. All staff members are trained to give consistent and appropriate acknowledgement and rewards:

SOAR Reward Cards, SOAR Certificates, SOAR Collectible Pins, SOAR Principal Cafés, Mini Celebration Events and Mega Celebration Days.

Mackenzie State Primary School employs a number of strategies for recognising and reinforcing students following the Mackenzie SOAR Expectations.



#### In Class - Individual

- Teacher designed in-class recognition systems (Stamp Charts, Signature Cards etc)
- SOAR Reward Cards:
  - Blue Star Teacher, 2 points
  - Red Star Teacher Aide, 3 points
  - Bronze Star Specialist Teacher, 3 points
  - Silver Star TRS Teacher, 4 points
  - Gold Star Principal, 5 points
- Teacher feedback to student specific targeted responses
- SOAR Certificates: The PBL team collects and collates the points from SOAR Reward Bookmarks. Students who earn 50 (150, 250, 350) SOAR Reward points are presented with a SOAR Certificate and a Principal's Gold Star SOAR Reward Card. These are presented in special in-class award ceremonies.

#### In Class - Team

- Popcorn Scoops are given for whole class team work. Whole class rewards may be allocated when jar is filled (outdoor play time, movement break, story time, construction play, unstructured creative play)
- A student is selected to tip the jar of popcorn into the school popcorn container at assembly. See School Wide Recognition below.

#### In the playground - Individual

• 1 point Green Star SOAR Reward Bookmarks: awarded for being Safe, On-Task, Attitude of Honour, Respect

#### **School Wide Recognition**

- Mini Celebration Days once or twice per term as indicated when popcorn reaches the line on the container, and may include events such as: Sausage sizzle; Zooper Dooper Ice-block; Free dress / Fancy Dress; Dance Party; Jumping castle; Movie; Scavenger Hunt; Giant Games; Teacher's Choice.
- These events may be a surprise or students may be notified.
- Mega Celebration Days occur as a celebration of learning in the last week of Term 4.

#### Mackenzie SOAR Reward Collectible Pins

 Individual students who have shown exemplary behaviour, for every 100 SOAR reward points earned, are presented with a SOAR Collectible Pin, A SOAR Reward Certificate and a Principal's Gold Star SOAR Card. Each season of SOAR Star Pins is a colour and consists of 4 collectible lettered pins, spelling out SOAR. Students will be able to continue collecting the seasons of pins throughout their school life at Mackenzie.

#### Mackenzie SOAR Principal Cafés

• Students who have attained 450 points complete their season with a SOAR Principal Café. This is a special morning tea hosted by our Principal and catered by our friends from Mackenzie State Special School. Students are provided with an order form and are able to choose a special drink and something to eat.



Mackenzie State Primary School positive behaviour for learning expectations outlined in the MSPS Behaviour Matrix are communicated to students via a number of strategies:

- Behaviour lessons conducted by classroom teachers
- Reinforcement of learning from behaviour lessons on School Assemblies
- During active supervision by staff during classroom and non-classroom activities
- Classroom visual resources
- PBL Resources on the Mackenzie State Primary School Team Site, G:Drive, videos, teacher developed support materials
- Signs around the school
- In class visits from administration

Mackenzie State Primary School implements the following positive proactive and preventative processes and strategies to support student behaviour:

- A dedicated section of the newsletter, enabling the wider community to be actively and positively involved in school behaviour expectations.
- Regular digital presence (Class Dojo, Email, Text message) informing parents of school behaviour expectations and rewards.
- School Wide Positive Behaviour Support Teams members' regular provision of information to staff and parents, and support others in sharing successful practices.
- Comprehensive induction programs in the Mackenzie State Primary School Responsible Behaviour Plan for students delivered to new students as well as new relief staff and non-teaching staff.
- Professional Development in behaviour strategies PBL Conference/AVT Behaviour Service.
- Individual learning/behaviour plan developed with students, parents and relevant specialists (where appropriate) for students who demonstrate repeated inappropriate or unacceptable behaviour to provide a personal framework of positive behaviour expectations and actions and to enable staff to provide consistent strategies or adjustments across all learning environments.
- PBL Team to continually monitor the effectiveness of the school wide systems for behaviour management.



Green Season Soar Pins.

Please see Appendix A examples of PBL documents including: Classroom SOAR Posters, SOAR Certificates, SOAR Reward Cards,



#### Parents and staff

The table below explains the PBL expectations for parents when visiting our school and the standards we commit to as staff.

#### Safe

What we expect to see from you	What you can expect from us
You respect the obligation of staff to maintain student and family privacy.	We will maintain confidentiality about information relating to your child and family.
You make an appointment to speak with the class teacher or principal to discuss any matters relating to your child.	We will respond as soon as practicable to your request for an appointment and negotiate a mutually agreeable date and time with you.
You are respectful in your conversations at home about school staff.	We will ensure positive behaviours are role modelled for all students.
You leave and collect your child from the designated area at school.	We will give clear guidance about a designated area for parents to leave and collect students.

#### On-Task

What we expect to see from you	What you can expect from us
You support your child to meet the	We are clear about our learning and
learning and behavioural expectations	behavioural expectations, and contact
at school.	you to provide regular feedback about
	your child's progress.
You stay informed about school news	We will use the electronic school
and activities by reading the school	newsletter as the primary means of
newsletter and other materials sent	notifying parents about school news,
home by school staff.	excursions or events.
You approach the class teacher or	We will work with every family to
principal if you are concerned about the	quickly address any complaints or
behaviour of a staff member, another	concerns about the behaviour of staff,
student or parent.	students or other parents.
You ensure your children attend school	We will create a safe, supportive and
every day and notify the school	inclusive environment for every
promptly of any absences or changes	student.
in contact details.	



## Attitude of Honour

What we expect to see from you	What you can expect from us
You seek out opportunities to provide	We will work closely with families to
positive feedback to the classroom	accommodate their personal needs,
teacher about their work with the class,	including work commitments, finances
a student or colleagues.	and family structure.
You help your child to see the	We will promote every child's
strengths and benefits in diversity and	individuality and build a cohesive,
difference in their classmates.	inclusive classroom and school culture.
You notice when others need help,	We will check in with you about your
parents, staff and students, and ask if	child's needs or any support your
there is anything you do to assist.	family may require.
You recognise people are different and	We will welcome and celebrate a
will be non-judgemental, fair and	diverse school community with
equitable to others in the school	recognition of significant social, cultural
community.	and historical events.

## Respect

What we expect to see from you	What you can expect from us
You share relevant information about your child's learning, social and behavioural needs with school staff.	We will share relevant information with you about your child's learning, social and behavioural progress at school.
You take a positive, solution-focused approach to resolving complaints.	We will nominate a contact person for you to work with to resolve a school related complaint.
You respect school, student and staff privacy in your online communications.	We will act quickly to address social media issues that affect staff, students or families.



## **Consideration of Individual Circumstances**

Staff at Mackenzie State Primary School take into account students' individual circumstances, such as their behaviour history, disability, mental health and wellbeing, religious and cultural considerations, home environment and care arrangements when teaching expectations, responding to inappropriate behaviour or applying a consequence.

In considering the individual circumstances of each student, we recognise that the way we teach, the support we provide, and the way we respond to students will differ. This reflects the principle of equality, where every student is given the support they need to be successful. This also means that not everyone will be treated the same, because treating everyone the same is not fair. For example, some students need additional support to interpret or understand an expectation. Others may benefit from more opportunities to practise a required skill or behaviour. For a small number of students, the use of certain consequences may be considered inappropriate or ineffective due to complex trauma or family circumstances. These are all matters that our teachers and principal consider with each individual student in both the instruction of behaviour and the response to behaviour.

Our teachers are also obliged by law to respect and protect the privacy of individual students, so while we understand the interest of other students, staff and parents to know what punishment another student might have received, we will not disclose or discuss this information with anyone but the student's family. This applies even if the behavioural incident, such as bullying, involves your child. You can be assured that school staff take all matters, such as bullying, very seriously and will address them appropriately. We expect that parents and students will respect the privacy of other students and families.

If you have concerns about the behaviour of another student at the school, or the way our staff have responded to their behaviour, please make an appointment with the principal to discuss the matter.



## **Differentiated and Explicit Teaching**

Mackenzie State Primary School is a supportive school environment that provides differentiated teaching to respond to the learning needs of all students. This involves teaching expected behaviours and providing opportunities for students to practise these behaviours. Teachers reinforce expected behaviours, provide feedback and correction, and opportunities for practise.

Teachers at Mackenzie State Primary School vary what students are taught, how they are taught and how students can demonstrate what they know as part of this differentiated approach to behaviour. These decisions about differentiation are made in response to data and day-to-day monitoring that indicates the behavioural learning needs of students. This enables our teachers to purposefully plan a variety of ways to engage students; assist them to achieve the expected learning; and to demonstrate their learning.

There are three main layers to differentiation, as illustrated in the diagram below. This model is the same used for academic and pedagogical differentiation.



These three layers map directly to the tiered approach discussed earlier in the Learning and Behaviour section. For example, in the PBL framework, Tier 1 is differentiated and explicit teaching for all students, Tier 2 is focused teaching for identified students and Tier 3 is intensive teaching for a small number of students. Each layer provides progressively more personalised supports for students.

Every classroom in our school uses the PBL Expectations Matrix, illustrated below, as a basis for developing their behaviour standards. Using this matrix, the class teacher works with all students to explain exactly what each of the expectations look, sound and feel like in their classroom. The completed matrix is on display in every classroom, used as the basis of teaching expectations throughout the year and revisited regularly to address any new or emerging issues.

Mackenzie State Primary School: School Wide Expectations Matrix (Appendix A)



At Mackenzie State Primary School our preferred way of re-directing low-level problem behaviour is to ask students to think of how they might be able to act more safely, more on-task, show an attitude of honour or more respectfully. This encourages students to reflect on their own behaviour, evaluate it against expected school behaviour, and plan how their behaviour could be modified so as to align with the expectations of our school community.



## Focused Teaching

Approximately 15% of all students in any school or classroom may require additional support to meet behaviour expectations, even after being provided with differentiated and explicit teaching. These students may have difficulty meeting behavioural expectations in a particular period of the day or as part of a learning area/subject, and focused teaching is provided to help them achieve success.

Focused teaching involves revisiting key behavioural concepts and/or skills and using explicit and structured teaching strategies in particular aspects of a behaviour skill. Focused teaching provides students with more opportunities to practise skills and multiple opportunities to achieve the intended learning and expected behaviour.

Support staff, including teachers with specialist expertise in learning, language or development, work collaboratively with class teachers at Mackenzie State Primary School to provide focused teaching. Focused teaching is aligned to the PBL Expectations Matrix, and student progress is monitored by the classroom teacher/s to identify those who:

- no longer require the additional support
- require ongoing focused teaching
- require intensive teaching.

Each year a small number of students at Mackenzie State Primary School are identified through our data as needing extra in the way of targeted behavioural support. In most cases, the problem behaviours of these students may not be immediately regarded as severe, but the frequency of their behaviours may put these students' learning and social success at risk if not addressed in a timely manner.

Students referred to the Student Service Support Team attend their normal scheduled classes and activities with appropriate adjustments if required. However they have increased daily opportunities to receive positive contact with adults, additional support from check-in/check-out coaches and increased opportunities to receive positive reinforcement. Where required, adjustments are made to the program through academic support, adult mentoring or intensive social skills training.

The Student Service Support Team is coordinated by a school-based team with active administrator support and staff involvement. All staff members are provided with continuous professional development consisting of an overview of the program, the referral and response process, and the reporting responsibilities of staff and of the students being supported.

Students whose behaviour does not improve after participation in the Student Service Support Team, or whose previous behaviour indicates a need for specialised intervention, are provided with intensive behaviour support.



## Intensive Teaching

Research evidence shows that even in an effective, well-functioning school there will always be approximately 5% of the student population who require intensive teaching to achieve behavioural expectations. Intensive teaching involves frequent and explicit instruction, with individuals or in small groups, to develop mastery of basic behavioural concepts, skills and knowledge.

Some students may require intensive teaching for a short period, for particular behaviour skills. Other students may require intensive teaching for a more prolonged period. Decisions about the approach will be made based on data collected for their teacher or teachers, and following consultation with the student's family.

For a small number of students who continue to display behaviours that are deemed complex and challenging, then individualised, function-based behaviour assessment and support plans and multi-agency collaboration may be provided to support the student. This approach will seek to address the acute impact of barriers to learning and participation faced by students who are negotiating a number of complex personal issues.

Students who require intensive teaching will be assigned an individual mentor at the school who will oversee the coordination of their program, communicate with stakeholders and directly consult with the student.

Mackenzie State Primary School is committed to educating all students, including those with the highest behavioural support needs. We recognise that students with highly complex and challenging behaviours need comprehensive systems of support.

The Intensive Behaviour Support Team:

- facilitates a Functional Behaviour Assessment for appropriate students;
- works with other staff members to develop appropriate behaviour support strategies;
- monitors the impact of support for individual students through ongoing data collection;
- makes adjustments as required for the student; and
- works with the Positive Behaviour for Learning (PBL) Team and the Student Service Support Team to achieve continuity and consistency.

The Student Service Support Team has a simple and quick referral system in place. Following referral, a team member contacts parents and any relevant staff members to form a support team and begin the assessment and support process. In many cases the support team also includes individuals from other agencies already working with the student and their family, a representative from the school's administration and regional behavioural support staff.



# Legislative Delegations

## Legislation

In this section of the Mackenzie State Primary School Student Code of Conduct are links to legislation which influences form and content of Queensland state school discipline procedures.

- <u>Anti-Discrimination Act 1991 (Qld)</u>
- <u>Child Protection Act 1999 (Qld)</u>
- <u>Commonwealth Disability Discrimination Act 1992</u>
- <u>Commonwealth Disability Standards for Education 2005</u>
- Criminal Code Act 1899 (Qld)
- Education (General Provisions) Act 2006
- Education (General Provisions) Regulation 2017
- Human Rights Act 2019 (Qld)
- Information Privacy Act 2009 (Qld)
- Judicial Review Act 1991 (Qld)
- Right to Information Act 2009 (Qld)
- Police Powers and Responsibilities Act 2000 (Qld)
- Workplace Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld)
- Workplace Health and Safety Regulation 2011 (Cwth)

## **Delegations**

Under the Education (General Provisions) Act 2006, state school principals are responsible for "controlling and regulating student discipline in the school".

Principals are afforded a number of **non-delegable powers** to assist them to meet this obligation, including the authority to suspend, exclude or cancel the enrolment of a student at the school. These decision-making responsibilities cannot be delegated to other staff in the school, such as deputy principals.

The details of these responsibilities are outlined in the legislative instruments of delegation and instruments of authorisation provided below:

- <u>Education (General Provisions) Act 2006 Director-General's</u> delegations
- Education (General Provisions) Act 2006 Minister's delegations
- Education (General Provisions) Act 2006 Director-General's authorisations
- <u>Education (General Provisions) Regulation 2006 Minister's</u> <u>delegations</u>
- <u>Education (General Provisions) Regulation 2017 Director-General's</u> delegations



# **Disciplinary Consequences**

The disciplinary consequences model used at Mackenzie State Primary School follows the same differentiated approach used in the proactive teaching and support of student behavioural expectations.

The majority of students will be confident and capable of meeting established expectations that are clear, explicitly taught and practised. In-class corrective feedback, sanctions and rule reminders may be used by teachers to respond to low-level or minor problem behaviours.

Some students will need additional support, time and opportunities to practise expected behaviours. Approximately 15% of the student population may experience difficulty with meeting the stated expectations, and even with focused teaching, in-class corrective feedback, sanctions and rule reminders continue to display low-level problem behaviour. A continued pattern of low-level behaviour can interfere with teaching and learning for the whole class, and a decision may be needed by the class teacher to refer the student to the school administration team immediately for determination of a disciplinary consequence.

For a small number of students, approximately 2-5%, a high level of differentiated support or intensive teaching is required to enable them to meet the behavioural expectations. This may be needed throughout the school year on a continuous basis. The determination of the need will be made by the principal in consultation with staff and other relevant stakeholders. On occasion the behaviour of a student may be so serious, such as causing harm to other students or to staff, that the principal may determine that an out of school suspension or exclusion is necessary as a consequence for the student's behaviour. Usually this course of action is only taken when the behaviour is either so serious as to warrant immediate removal of the student for the safety of others, and no other alternative discipline strategy is considered sufficient to deal with the problem behaviour.

The differentiated responses to problem behaviour can be organised into three tiers, with increasing intensity of support and consequences to address behaviour that endangers others or causes major, ongoing interference with class or school operations.



Mackenzie State Primary School Behaviour Flow Chart (Appendix B)



## Differentiated

Class teacher provides in-class or in-school disciplinary responses to low-level or minor problem behaviour. This may include:

- Pre-correction (e.g. "Remember, walk quietly to your seat")
- Non-verbal and visual cues (e.g. posters, hand gestures)
- Whole class practising of routines
- Ratio of 5 positive to 1 negative commentary or feedback to class
- Corrective feedback (e.g. "Hand up when you want to ask a question")
- Rule reminders (e.g. "When the bell goes, stay seated until I dismiss you")
- Explicit behavioural instructions (e.g. "Pick up your pencil")
- Proximity control
- Tactical ignoring of inappropriate behaviour (not student)
- · Revised seating plan and relocation of student/s
- Individual positive reinforcement for appropriate behaviour
- Classwide incentives
- Reminders of incentives or class goals
- Redirection
- Low voice and tone for individual instructions
- Give 30 second 'take-up' time for student/s to process instruction/s
- Reduce verbal language
- Break down tasks into smaller chunks
- Provide positive choice of task order (e.g. "Which do you want to start with?")
- Prompt student to take a break or time away in class
- Model appropriate language, problem solving and verbalise thinking process (e.g. "I'm not sure what is the next step, who can help me?")
- Provide demonstration of expected behaviour
- Peer consequence (e.g. corrective feedback to influential peer demonstrating same problem behaviour)
- Private discussion with student about expected behaviour
- Reprimand for inappropriate behaviour
- Warning of more serious consequences (e.g. removal from classroom)

#### Focused

Class teacher is supported by other school-based staff to address in-class problem behaviour. This may include:

- Functional Behaviour Assessment
- Individual student behaviour support strategies (e.g. Student behaviour plan)
- Targeted skills teaching in small group
- Token economy
- Detention
- Behavioural contract
- Counselling and guidance support
- Self-monitoring plan
- Check in Check Out strategy
- Teacher coaching and debriefing
- Referral to Student Support Network for team based problem solving
- Stakeholder meeting with parents and external agencies



## Intensive

School leadership team work in consultation with Student Support Network to address persistent or ongoing serious problem behaviour. This may include:

- Functional Behaviour Assessment based individual support plan
- Complex case management and review
- Stakeholder meeting with parents and external agencies including regional specialists
- Temporary removal of student property (e.g. mobile phone)
- Short term suspension (up to 10 school days)
- Long term suspension (up to 20 school days)
- Charge related suspension (student has been charged with a serious criminal offence is suspended from school until the charge has been dealt with by the relevant justice authorities)
- Suspension pending exclusion (student is suspended from school pending a decision by the Director-General or delegate (principal) about their exclusion from school)
- Exclusion (student is excluded from a particular state school site, a group of state schools or all state schools in Queensland for a defined period of time or permanently)
- Cancellation of enrolment for students older than compulsory school age who refuse to participate in the educational program provided at the school.

Please refer to Appendix B for full School Wide Expectations Matrix, Flow Chart documents and examples of "Think About It" and "Reflection Cards".



## **Minor and Major Behaviours**

Mackenzie State Primary School makes systematic efforts to prevent problematic student behaviour by teaching and reinforcing expected behaviours on an ongoing basis. When unexpected or unacceptable behaviour occurs, students experience predictable consequences. Our school seeks to ensure that responses to unexpected or unacceptable behaviour are consistent and proportionate to the nature of the behaviour. A Think About It Card (Yellow), An Office Referral form (White) or Reflection Card (Red) is used to record all minor and major problem behaviour. The recording of three minor behaviours within a seven calendar day period constitutes a major behaviour.

#### **MINOR and MAJOR behaviours**

When responding to problem behaviour, the staff member first determines if the problem behaviour is major or minor, with the following agreed understanding:

- **MINOR** problem behaviour is handled by staff members at the time it happens.
- **MAJOR** problem behaviour is referred directly to the school Administration team.

#### MINOR behaviours are those that:

- are minor breeches of the school rules;
- do not seriously harm others or cause you to suspect that the student may be harmed;
- do not violate the rights of others in any other serious way;
- are not part of a pattern of problem behaviours; and
- do not require involvement of specialist support staff or Administration.

#### MINOR problem behaviours may result in the following consequences:

- a minor consequence that is logically connected to the problem behaviour, such as complete removal from an activity or event for a specified period of time, partial removal (time away), individual meeting with the student, apology, restitution or detention for work completion.
- a re-direction procedure. The staff member takes the student aside and:
  - 1. names the behaviour that the student is displaying;
  - 2. asks the student to name expected school behaviour;
  - 3. states and explains expected school behaviour if necessary; and
  - 4. gives positive verbal acknowledgement for expected school behaviour.



#### MAJOR behaviours are those that:

- significantly violate the rights of others;
- put others / self at risk of harm; and
- require the involvement of school Administration.

**MAJOR** behaviours result in an immediate referral to Administration because of their seriousness. When major problem behaviour occurs, staff members calmly state the major problem behaviour to the student and remind them of the expected school behaviour. The staff member then completes the office referral form and escorts the student to Administration.

#### MAJOR problem behaviours may result in the following consequences:

- *Level One:* Time in office, removal to withdrawal room, alternate lunchtime activities, loss of privilege, restitution, loss of break times, warning regarding future consequence for repeated offence;
- *Level Two:* Referral to Guidance Officer, referral to Intensive Behaviour Support Team, suspension from school: and/or
- *Level Three:* Students who engage in very serious problem behaviours such as major violent physical assault, or the use or supply of weapons or drugs can expect to be recommended for exclusion from school following an immediate period of suspension.

#### Relate problem behaviours to expected school behaviours

When responding to problem behaviours, staff members ensure that students understand the relationship of the problem behaviour to expected school behaviour. One method that staff members might use to achieve this is to have students:

- articulate the relevant expected school behaviour;
- explain how their behaviour differs from expected school behaviour;
- describe the likely consequences if the problem behaviour continues; and
- identify what they will do to change their behaviour in line with expected school behaviour.

Should a problem behaviour be repeated, the staff member may not repeat the discussion/explanation process but simply remind the student of the consequences of their problem behaviour.

#### Ensuring consistent responses to problem behaviour

At Mackenzie State Public School, staff members are authorised to issue consequences for problem behaviour and are provided with appropriate professional development and/or training. Through training activities, we work to ensure consistent responses to problem behaviour across the school.

Students also receive training in how to respond appropriately when other students display problem behaviour, and the courteous way to respond when a staff member re-directs their behaviour or consequences are applied for problem behaviour.



## **School Disciplinary Absences**

A School Disciplinary Absence (SDA) is an enforced period of absence from attending a Queensland state school, applied by the Principal as a consequence to address poor student behaviour. There are four types of SDA:

- Short suspension (1 to 10 school days)
- Long suspension (11 to 20 school days)
- Charge-related suspension
- Exclusion (period of not more than one year or permanently).

At Mackenzie State Primary School, the use of any SDA is considered a very serious decision. It is typically only used by the Principal when other options have been exhausted or the student's behaviour is so dangerous that continued attendance at the school is considered a risk to the safety or wellbeing of the school community.

Parents and students may appeal a long suspension, charge-related suspension or exclusion decision. A review will be conducted by the Director-General or their delegate, and a decision made within 40 schools days to confirm, amend/vary or set aside the original SDA decision by the Principal.

The appeal process is a thorough review of all documentation associated with the SDA decision and provides an opportunity for both the school and the family to present their case in the matter. Time is afforded for collection, dissemination and response to the materials by both the school and the family. It is important that the purpose of the appeal is understood so that expectations are clear, and appropriate supports are in place to ensure students can continue to access their education while completing their SDA.

#### **Re-entry following suspension**

Students who are suspended from Mackenzie State Primary School may be invited to attend a re-entry meeting on the day of their scheduled return to school. The main purpose of this meeting is to welcome the student, with their parent/s, back to the school. It is **not a time** to review the student's behaviour or the decision to suspend, the student has already received a punishment through their disciplinary absence from school. The aim of the re-entry meeting is for school staff to set the student up for future success and strengthen home-school communication.

It is not mandatory for the student or their parents to attend a re-entry meeting. It may be offered as a support for the student to assist in their successful re-engagement in school following suspension.

#### Arrangements

The invitation to attend the re-entry meeting will be communicated via telephone and in writing, usually via email. Re-entry meetings are short, taking less than 10 minutes, and kept small with only the Principal or their delegate attending with the student and their parent/s.

A record of the meeting is saved in OneSchool, under the Contact tab, including any notes or discussions occurring during the meeting.

#### Structure

The structure of the re-meeting should follow a set agenda, shared in advance with the student and their family. If additional items are raised for discussion, a separate arrangement should be made to meet with the parent/s at a later date and time. This meeting should be narrowly focused on making the student and their family feel welcome back into the school community.



Possible agenda:

- Welcome back to school
- Check in on student wellbeing
- Discuss any recent changes to school routine or staffing
- Offer information about supports available (e.g. guidance officer)
- Set a date for follow-up
- Thank student and parent/s for attending
- Walk with student to classroom

#### Reasonable adjustments

In planning the re-entry meeting, school staff will consider reasonable adjustments needed to support the attendance and engagement of the student. This includes selecting an appropriate and accessible meeting space, organising translation or interpretation services or supports (e.g. AUSLAN), provision of written and/or pictorial information and other relevant accommodations. The inclusion of support staff, such as guidance officers or Community Education Counsellors, may also offer important advice to ensure a successful outcome to the re-entry meeting.



# School Policies

Mackenzie State Primary School has designed policies to ensure students, staff and visitors work cooperatively to create and maintain a supportive and safe learning environment. Please ensure that you familiarise yourself with the responsibilities for students, staff and visitors outlined in the following policies:

- Temporary removal of student property
- Use of mobile phones and other devices by students
- Preventing and responding to bullying
- Appropriate use of social media

## Temporary removal of student property

The removal of any property in a student's possession may be necessary to promote the caring, safe and supportive learning environment of the school, to maintain and foster mutual respect between all state school staff and students. The <u>Temporary removal of</u> <u>student property by school staff procedure</u> outlines the processes, conditions and responsibilities for state school principals and school staff when temporarily removing student property.

In determining what constitutes a reasonable time to retain student property, the principal or state school staff will consider:

- the condition, nature or value of the property
- the circumstances in which the property was removed
- the safety of the student from whom the property was removed, other students or staff members
- good management, administration and control of the school.

The Principal or state school staff determine when the temporarily removed student property can be returned, unless the property has been handed to the Queensland Police Service.

The following items are explicitly prohibited at Mackenzie State Primary School and will be removed if found in a student's possession:

- illegal items or weapons (e.g. guns, knives\*, throwing stars, brass knuckles, chains)
- imitation guns or weapons
- potentially dangerous items (e.g. blades, rope)
- drugs\*\* (including tobacco)
- alcohol
- aerosol deodorants or cans (including spray paint)
- explosives (e.g. fireworks, flares, sparklers)
- flammable solids or liquids (e.g. fire starters, mothballs, lighters)
- poisons (e.g. weed killer, insecticides)
- inappropriate or offensive material (e.g. racist literature, pornography, extremist propaganda).

\* No knives of any type are allowed at school, including flick knives, ballistic knives, sheath knives, push daggers, trench knives, butterfly knives, star knives, butter knives, fruit knives or craft knives, or any item that can be used as a weapon, for example a chisel. Knives

needed for school activities will be provided by the school, and the use of them will be supervised by school staff. In circumstances where students are required to have their own knives or sharp tools for particular subjects or vocational courses, the school will provide information about the procedures for carrying and storing these items at school.

\*\* The administration of medications to students by school staff is only considered when a prescribing health practitioner has determined that it is necessary or when there is no other alternative in relation to the treatment of a specific health need. Schools require medical authorisation to administer any medication to students (including over-the-counter medications such as paracetamol or alternative medicines).

#### Responsibilities

**State school staff** at Mackenzie State Primary School:

- do not require the student's consent to search school property such as lockers, desks or laptops that are supplied to the student through the school;
- may seize a student's bag where there is suspicion that the student has a dangerous item (for example, a knife) in their school bag, prior to seeking consent to search from a parent or calling the police;
- consent from the student or parent is required to examine or otherwise deal with the temporarily removed student property. For example, staff who temporarily remove a mobile phone from a student are not authorised to unlock the phone or to read, copy or delete messages stored on the phone;
- there may, however, be emergency circumstances where it is necessary to search a student's property without the student's consent or the consent of the student's parents (e.g. to access an EpiPen for an anaphylactic emergency);
- consent from the student or parent is required to search the person of a student (e.g. pockets or shoes). If consent is not provided and a search is considered necessary, the police and the student's parents should be called to make such a determination.

#### Parents of students at Mackenzie State Primary School

- ensure your children do not bring property onto schools grounds or other settings used by the school (e.g. camp, sporting venues) that:
  - is prohibited according to the Mackenzie State Primary School Student Code of Conduct
  - o is illegal
  - o puts the safety or wellbeing of others at risk
  - o does not preserve a caring, safe, supportive or productive learning environment
  - o does not maintain and foster mutual respect;
- collect temporarily removed student property as soon as possible after they have been notified by the Principal or school staff that the property is available for collection.

Students of Mackenzie State Primary School

- do not bring property onto school grounds or other settings used by the school (e.g. camp, sporting venues) that:
  - o is prohibited according to the Mackenzie State Primary School Code of Conduct
  - o is illegal
  - o puts the safety or wellbeing of others at risk
  - does not preserve a caring, safe, supportive or productive learning environment
  - o does not maintain and foster mutual respect;
- collect their property as soon as possible when advised by the Principal or state school staff it is available for collection.



## Use of mobile phones and other devices by students

Digital literacy refers to the skills needed to live, learn and work in a society where communication and access to information is dominated by digital technologies like mobile phones. However, the benefits brought about through these diverse technologies can be easily overshadowed by deliberate misuse which harms others or disrupts learning.

In consultation with the broader school community, Mackenzie State Primary School has determined that explicit teaching of responsible use of ICT devices is a critical component of digital literacy. The knowledge and confidence to navigate and use these technologies safely while developing digital literacy is a responsibility shared between parents, school staff and students. At Mackenzie State Primary School, students will be provided with the technological devices they need for school learning purposes. There is no need for students to bring in personal devices for learning.

It is also agreed that time and space should be provided at school where technology is not permitted, and students are encouraged to engage in other social learning and development activities. Therefore, all personal mobile devices are to be signed into the school administration on arrival at the school and can be signed out when departing the school. Certain Personal Technology

#### **Devices Banned from School**

Students must not bring valuable personal technology devices like mobile phones, cameras, digital video cameras or MP3 players to school as there is a risk of damage or theft. Such devices must be handed into the school office at the beginning of the school day and can be collected at the end of the school day. Personal devices are also prohibited during camp and off-site excursions. If these devices are not handed in to the office they will be confiscated by school staff and may be collected at the end of the day from the school office. Breaches of this prohibition may result in discipline.

#### Confiscation

Permitted personal technology devices used contrary to this policy on school premises will be confiscated by school staff. They will be made available for collection from the school office at the end of the school day unless required to be kept for purposes of disciplinary investigation, when it will only be returned in the presence of a parent.

Devices potentially containing evidence of criminal offences may be reported to the police. In such cases, police may take possession of such devices for investigation purposes and students and parents will be advised to contact Queensland Police Service (QPS) directly.

Students who have a personal technology device confiscated more than once will not be permitted to have a personal technology device at school for at least one month, or longer if deemed necessary by the Principal.

#### Responsibilities

The responsibilities for students using mobile phones or other devices at school or during school activities, are outlined below.

It is **acceptable** for students at Mackenzie State Primary School to use mobile phones or devices for:

- safety purposes when travelling to and from school
- contacting parents or caregivers prior to arriving at school or after departing school



- health reasons when listed as a tool in student health plans (e.g. diabetic heath plan) or other health monitoring device not able to be used as a communication device (e.g. fit bit)
- seek principal's approval where they wish to use a mobile device under special circumstances

It is **unacceptable** for students at Mackenzie State Primary School to:

- use a mobile phone or other devices in an unlawful manner
- use a personal mobile phone/devices during school hours, on school site without the permission of a teacher/administration
- download, distribute or publish offensive messages or pictures
- use obscene, inflammatory, racist, discriminatory or derogatory language
- use language and/or threats of violence that may amount to bullying and/or harassment, or even stalking
- insult, harass or attack others or use obscene or abusive language
- deliberately waste printing and internet resources
- damage computers, printers or network equipment
- commit plagiarism or violate copyright laws
- ignore teacher directions for the use of social media, online email and internet chat
- send chain letters or spam email (junk mail)
- knowingly download viruses or any other programs capable of breaching the department's network security
- use in-phone cameras unless implicitly instructed to and supervised by a staff member
- invade someone's privacy by recording personal conversations or daily activities and/or the further distribution (e.g. forwarding, texting, uploading, Bluetooth use etc.) of such material.

At all times, students, while using ICT facilities and devices supplied by the school, will be required to act in line with the requirements of the Mackenzie State School Student Code of Conduct. In addition, students and their parents should:

- understand the responsibility and behaviour requirements (as outlined by the school) that come with accessing the department's ICT network facilities
- ensure they have the skills to report and discontinue access to harmful information if presented via the internet or email
- be aware that:
  - access to ICT facilities and devices provides valuable learning experiences for students and supports the school's teaching and learning programmes
  - the school is not responsible for safeguarding information stored by students on departmentally-owned student computers or mobile devices
  - schools may remotely access departmentally-owned student computers or mobile devices for management purposes
  - students who use a school's ICT facilities and devices in a manner that is not appropriate may be subject to disciplinary action by the school, which could include restricting network access
  - despite internal departmental controls to manage content on the internet, illegal, dangerous or offensive information may be accessed or accidentally displayed
  - teachers will always exercise their duty of care, but avoiding or reducing access to harmful information also requires responsible use by the student.



## Preventing and responding to bullying

#### Bullying

The agreed national definition for Australian schools describes bullying as

- ongoing and deliberate misuse of power in relationships through repeated verbal, physical and/or social behaviour that intends to cause physical, social and/or psychological harm;
- involving an individual or a group misusing their power, or perceived power, over one or more persons who feel unable to stop it from happening;
- happening in person or online, via various digital platforms and devices and it can be obvious (overt) or hidden (covert). Bullying behaviour is repeated, or has the potential to be repeated, over time (for example, through sharing of digital records);
- having immediate, medium and long-term effects on those involved, including bystanders. Single incidents and conflict or fights between equals, whether in person or online, are not defined as bullying.

Behaviours that do not constitute bullying include:

- mutual arguments and disagreements (where there is no power imbalance)
- not liking someone or a single act of social rejection
- one-off acts of meanness or spite
- isolated incidents of aggression, intimidation or violence.

However, these conflicts are still considered serious and need to be addressed and resolved. At Mackenzie State Primary School our staff will work to quickly respond to any matters raised of this nature in collaboration with students and parents.

The following flowchart explains the actions Mackenzie State Primary School teachers will take when they receive a report about student bullying, including bullying which may have occurred online or outside of the school setting. Please note that the indicative timeframes will vary depending on the professional judgment of teachers who receive the bullying complaint and their assessment of immediate risk to student/s.

#### Procedures for Preventing and Responding to Incidents of Bullying (Including Cyberbullying) Purpose

- 1. Mackenzie State Primary School strives to create positive, predictable environments for all students at all times of the day. The disciplined teaching environment we create is essential to:
  - Achieving overall school improvement, including the effectiveness and efficiency of our student support procedures.
  - Raising achievement and attendance
  - Promoting equality and diversity and ensuring the safety and well-being of all members of the school community.
- 2. There is no place for bullying in Mackenzie State Primary School. Research indicates that both those being bullied and those who bully are at risk for behavioural, emotional and academic problems. These outcomes are in direct contradiction to our school community's goals and efforts for supporting all students.
- 3. Bullying behaviours that will not be tolerated at Mackenzie State Primary School include name-calling, taunting, mocking, making offensive comments, kicking, hitting, pushing, taking belongings, inappropriate text messaging, sending offensive or degrading images by phone or internet, producing offensive graffiti, gossiping, excluding people from groups, and spreading hurtful and untruthful rumours.



- 4. Bullying may be related to:
  - race, religion or culture
  - disability
  - appearance or health conditions
  - sexual orientation
  - sexist or sexual language
  - young carers or children in care
- 5. At Mackenzie State Primary School there is broad agreement among students, staff and parents that bullying is observable and measurable behaviour. When considering whether or not bullying has occurred, we will therefore avoid speculation on the intent of the behaviour, the power of individuals involved, or the frequency of its occurrence. Whether bullying behaviour is observed between students of equal or unequal power, whether it occurs once or several times, and whether or not the persons involved cite intimidation, revenge, or self-defence as a motive, the behaviour will be responded to in a similar fashion, that is, as categorically unacceptable in the school community.

#### Rationale

- 1. Research indicates that many problem behaviours are peer-maintained. That is, peers react to bullying in ways that may increase the likelihood of it occurring again in the future. Reactions include joining in, laughing, or simply standing and watching, rather than intervening to help the person being bullied. Whilst our school would never encourage students to place themselves at risk, our anti-bullying procedures involve teaching the whole school a set of safe and effective responses to all problem behaviour, including bullying, in such a way that those who bully are not socially reinforced for demonstrating it.
- 2. The anti-bullying procedures at Mackenzie State Primary School are an addition to our already research-validated school wide positive behaviour support processes. This means that all students are being explicitly taught the expected school behaviours and receiving high levels of social acknowledgement for doing so. Adding lessons on bullying and how to prevent and respond to it is a subset of procedures that our students are already accustomed to.

#### Prevention

- 1. Attempting to address specific problem behaviours will not be successful if the general level of disruptive behaviour in all areas of our school is not kept to a low level. Therefore, our school wide universal behaviour support practices will be maintained at all times. This will ensure that:
  - Our universal behaviour support processes will always remain the primary strategy for preventing problem behaviour.
  - All students know the four school rules and have been taught the expected behaviours attached to each rule in all areas of the school.
  - All students have or are being taught the specific routines in the non-classroom areas, from exiting the classroom, conducting themselves in accordance with the school expectations in the playground and other areas, to re-entering their classrooms.
  - All students are receiving high levels of positive reinforcement for demonstrating expected behaviours, including those associated with following our routines, from all staff in the non-classroom areas of the school.
  - A high level of quality active supervision is a permanent staff routine in the nonclassroom areas. This means that duty staff members are easily identifiable and are constantly moving, scanning and positively interacting as they move through the designated supervision sectors of the non-classroom areas.



Our school will then investigate and respond to any incident of cyberbullying:

- 1. The student curriculum modules of the anti-bullying process consist of lessons taught by all teachers in all classrooms to a school wide schedule of instructions. All classes are provided with teaching and learning materials in order to maintain consistency of skill acquisition across the school.
- 2. An initial introductory lesson is delivered, which teaches the 3-step process to be used by all students when experiencing bullying behaviour either as a person being bullied, the person bullying or bystander.
- 3. The introductory lesson is followed by several shorter lessons, each of which focuses on one of the bullying behaviours that the school has identified and defined. These lessons include instruction on how to approach adults and also on what reactions and systemic responses they should expect from adults.
- 4. Mackenzie State School will take part in the National Day of Action Against Bullying and Violence on the third Friday of March each year. This is to highlight the importance of bullying issues within our school community and what our school is doing to prevent this.
- 5. Research indicates that a common outcome of anti-bullying programming is an improvement in understanding of bullying but little change in the frequency or nature of actual bullying behaviour. One of the reasons cited for this outcome is the lack of behavioural rehearsal in the programming. The anti-bullying process at Mackenzie State Primary School takes care to combine knowledge with practice in a process of active learning, so that students understand by 'doing' as much as by 'knowing'.
- 6. Mackenzie State Primary School uses behavioural data for decision making. This data is entered into our database on a daily basis and can be recalled as summary reports at any time. This facility allows the school to track the effectiveness of its anti-bullying process, to make necessary adjustments, and to identify specific bullying behaviours that may need to be revisited or revised in the instructional process.



#### Mackenzie State Primary School - Bullying response flowchart for teachers

Please note these timelines may be adjusted depending on the unique circumstances and risk associated with each situation. This is at the professional judgment of the staff involved. Timeframes should be clearly discussed and agreed with student and family.



#### Cyberbullying

Cyberbullying is treated at Mackenzie State Primary School with the same level of seriousness as in-person bullying. The major difference with cyberbullying however, is that unlike in-person bullying, cyberbullying follows students into their community, their homes and their bedrooms, giving them no opportunity to escape the harassment or abuse during the evening, weekends or holidays.

In the first instance, students or parents who wish to make a report about cyberbullying should approach the regular class teacher. Students, parents or staff may also approach the school principal for assistance in preventing and responding to cyberbullying.

It is important for students, parents and staff to know that state school principals have the authority to take disciplinary action to address student behaviours that occur outside of school hours or school grounds. This includes cyberbullying. Parents and students who have concerns about cyberbullying incidents occurring during school holidays should immediately seek assistance through the <u>Office of the e-Safety Commissioner</u> or the Queensland Police Service.

Students enrolled at Mackenzie State Primary School may face in-school disciplinary action, such as reflection time or removing of privileges, or more serious consequences such as suspension or exclusion from school for engaging in behaviour that adversely affects, or is likely to adversely affect, other students or the good order and management of the school. This includes behaviour such as cyberbullying which occurs outside of school hours or settings, for example on the weekend or during school holidays. It also applies to inappropriate online behaviour of enrolled students that is directed towards other community members or students from other school sites.

Parents or other stakeholders who engage in inappropriate online behaviour towards students, staff or other parents may be referred to the Office of the e-Safety Commissioner and/or the Queensland Police Service. State school staff will be referred for investigation to the Integrity and Employee Relations team in the Department of Education. Any questions or concerns about the school process for managing or responding to cyberbullying should be directed to school principal.



#### Mackenzie State Primary School - Cyberbullying response flowchart for school staff

#### How to manage online incidents that impact your school

#### Student protection

If at any point the principal forms a reasonable suspicion that a student has been harmed or is at risk of harm, they have a responsibility to respond in accordance with the <u>Student</u> protection procedure.

#### Explicit images

If the investigation involves naked or explicit images of children, staff should not save, copy, forward or otherwise deal with the content, as per the <u>Temporary removal of student property by school</u> <u>staff procedure</u>. This includes onto OneSchool records. Refer to the investigative process outlined in 'Responding to incidents involving naked or explicit images of children' from the <u>Online Incident</u> <u>management guidelines</u>.

#### Report

Refer to the Online incident management guidelines for more details, or if assistance is required, contact the Cybersafety and Reputation Management (CSRM)team on 3034 5035 or Cybersafety.ReputationManagement@qed.qld. gov.au.

#### Does the online behaviour/incident negatively impact the good order and management of the school?





#### Cybersafety and Reputation Management (CRM)

The Department of Education employs a dedicated team of experts to assist in maintaining the integrity of the department's reputation with regards to cybersafety and reputation management issues, effectively leading the development and implementation of departmental cybersafety processes.

This team provides **direct support for schools** to respond to concerns of inappropriate online behaviour and misuse of information and communication technology.

The team provides a <u>guide for parents</u> with important information about cybersafety and cyberbullying, and suggestions about what you can do if your child is a target or responsible for inappropriate online behaviour.

The team has also developed a <u>Cyberbullying and reputation management</u> (Department employees only) resource to assist principals in incident management.

For more information about cybersafety sessions at your school, or for assistance with issues relating to online behaviour, contact the <u>team</u> (Department employees only).

#### **Student Intervention and Support Services**

Mackenzie State Primary School recognises the need to provide intervention and support to all students involved in incidents of bullying, including cyberbullying.

Students who have been subject or witness to bullying have access to a range of internal support staff, as identified in the Student Support Network section earlier in this document. Students are, however, also encouraged to approach any staff member with whom they feel comfortable sharing their concerns, regardless of their role in the school. All staff at Mackenzie State Primary School are familiar with the response expectations to reports of bullying, and will act quickly to ensure students' concerns are addressed. Depending on the nature of the reported bullying incident, a formal plan of action may be developed and documented to support the implementation of strategies to assist the student.

Students who engage in bullying behaviours towards others will also be provided with support to assist them to use more socially acceptable and appropriate behaviours in their interactions. This includes counselling, social development programs, referral to mental health services or involvement in a restorative justice strategy. School disciplinary measures may also be used to reinforce the seriousness with which the community takes all incidents of bullying. These measures may include internal school suspension, withdrawal from social events or celebrations or more severe punishments such as suspension or exclusion from school.



#### Appropriate use of social media

The internet, mobile phones and social media provide wonderful opportunities for students to network and socialise online. While these technologies provide positive platforms for sharing ideas, they also have the potential to cause pain and suffering to individuals, groups or even whole communities.

It's important to remember that sometimes negative comments posted about the school community have a greater impact than expected. This guide offers some information about how to use social media in relation to comments or posts about the school community. Reputations of students, teachers, schools, principals and even parents can be permanently damaged — and in some cases, serious instances of inappropriate online behaviour are dealt with by police and the court system.

Being aware of a few simple strategies can help keep the use of social media positive and constructive:

- Before you post something online, ask yourself if the community or individual really need to know. Is it relevant, positive and helpful?
- Remember that what you post online is a direct reflection of who you are. People will potentially form lasting opinions of you based on what you post online.
- Be a good role model. If things get heated online consider logging out and taking a few moments to relax and think. Hasty, emotive responses could inflame situations unnecessarily.
- Be mindful when commenting, try to keep general and avoid posting anything that could identify individuals.
- A few years ago parents may have discussed concerns or issues with their friends at the school gate. Today with the use of social media, online discussions between you and your close friends can very quickly be shared with a much wider audience, potentially far larger than intended.
- Taking a few moments to think about the content you are about to post could save upset, embarrassment, and possible legal action.
- As a parent you have a role in supervising and regulating your child's online activities at home and its impact on the reputation and privacy of others. Parents are their child's first teachers so they will learn online behaviours from you.

#### Is it appropriate to comment or post about schools, staff or students?

Parental and community feedback is important for schools and the department. If you have a compliment, complaint or enquiry about an issue at school, the best approach is to speak directly to the school about the matter, rather than discussing it in a public forum.

While many schools use social media to update parents of school notices, the department prefers that parents contact schools directly with a compliment, complaint or enquiry due to privacy considerations. Imagine if your doctor, accountant or banking institution tried to contact you to discuss important matters via Facebook.

If you have raised an issue with a school or know that another person has, consider refraining from discussing those details on social media, particularly the names of anyone involved.

Keep comments calm and polite, just as you would over the telephone or by email. If you encounter negative or derogatory content online which involves the school, hinders a child's learning and/or affects the school community at large, contact the school principal.



#### Possible civil or criminal ramifications of online commentary

A serious instance of inappropriate online behaviour may constitute a criminal offence and become a police matter. For example, online content may substantiate the offence of 'using a carriage service to menace, harass or cause offence' (Criminal Code Act 1995 (Cth) s. 474.17). School staff may contact their union or obtain personal legal advice if they feel that online content seriously impacts their reputation. Defamatory online content may give rise to litigation under the Defamation Act 2005 (Qld).

#### What about other people's privacy?

If you upload photos of your children, be mindful of who might be in the background. You might be happy to share your child's successes with your friends and family via social media, but some parents are not. If you are tagging or naming students, consider that other parents may not want their child's name attached to images online.

#### What if I encounter problem content?

Taking the following steps may help resolve the issue in a constructive way:

- refrain from responding
- take a screen capture or print a copy of the concerning online content
- if you consider problem content to be explicit, pornographic or exploitative of minors, you should keep a record of the URL of the page containing that content but NOT print or share it. The URL can be provided to the school principal, or police, as needed for escalation of serious concerns
- block the offending user
- report the content to the social media provider.



# **Restrictive Practices**

School staff at Mackenzie State Primary School need to respond to student behaviour that presents a risk of physical harm to the student themselves or others. It is anticipated that most instances of risky behaviour can be de-escalated and resolved quickly. On some rarer occasions, a student's behaviour may continue to escalate and staff need to engage immediately with positive and proactive strategies aimed at supporting the student to manage their emotional arousal and behaviour.

In some very rare situations, where there is immediate risk of physical harm to the student or other people, and when all other alternative strategies have failed to reduce the risk, it may be necessary for staff to use restrictive practices.

The use of restrictive practices will always be as a last resort, when there is no other available option for reducing immediate risk to the student, staff or other people. Restrictive practices are not used for punishment or as a disciplinary measure.

The department's **<u>Restrictive practices procedure</u>** is written with consideration for the protection of everyone's human rights, health, safety and welfare. There are six fundamental principles:

- 1. Regard to the human rights of those students
- 2. Safeguards students, staff and others from harm
- 3. Ensures transparency and accountability
- 4. Places importance on communication and consultation with parents and carers
- 5. Maximises the opportunity for positive outcomes, and
- 6. Aims to reduce or eliminate the use of restrictive practices.

Very rarely restrictive practices will be planned and staff will employ, when necessary, prearranged strategies and methods (of physical restraint/ mechanical restraint/ clinical holding) which are based upon behaviour risk assessment or clinical health need and are recorded in advance. The use of planned strategies will only be where there is foreseeable immediate risk consistent with the <u>Restrictive practices procedure</u>.

Seclusion will not be used as a planned response and will only be used in serious circumstances for managing an unforeseeable situation in an emergency. It will be used for the shortest time possible and in a safe area that presents no additional foreseeable risk to the student. In such emergencies, a staff member will observe the student at all times and seclusion will cease as soon as possible.

Following the use of any restrictive practice, a focused review will help staff to understand how they responded to the risk in any incident that involved the use of a restrictive practice. Staff will consider whether there are other options for managing a similar situation in the future. This strategy works well for reducing the use of restrictive practices.

All incidents of restrictive practices will be recorded and reported in line with departmental procedures.


# **Critical Incidents**

It is important that all school staff have a consistent understanding of how to respond in emergencies involving student behaviour that seriously endangers the student or others. This consistency ensures that appropriate actions are taken to ensure that both students and staff are kept safe.

A critical incident is defined as an occurrence that is sudden, urgent, and usually unexpected, or an occasion requiring immediate action (e.g. in the community, on the road). The aim in these situations is to bring the behaviour of the student under rapid and safe control. It is not a time to try and to punish or discipline the student; it is a crisis management period only.

Staff should follow the documented plan for any student involved in regular critical incidents, which should be saved and available for staff to review in OneSchool.

For unexpected critical incidents, staff should use basic defusing techniques:

- 1. Avoid escalating the problem behaviour: Avoid shouting, cornering the student, moving into the student's space, touching or grabbing the student, sudden responses, sarcasm, becoming defensive, communicating anger and frustration through body language.
- 2. Maintain calmness, respect and detachment: Model the behaviour you want students to adopt, stay calm and controlled, use a serious measured tone, choose your language carefully, avoid humiliating the student, be matter of fact and avoid responding emotionally.
- 3. Approach the student in a non-threatening manner: Move slowly and deliberately toward the problem situation, speak privately to the student/s where possible, speak calmly and respectfully, minimise body language, keep a reasonable distance, establish eye level position, be brief, stay with the agenda, acknowledge cooperation, withdraw if the situation escalates.
- 4. Follow through: If the student starts displaying the appropriate behaviour briefly acknowledge their choice and re-direct other students' attention towards their usual work/activity. If the student continues with the problem behaviour, then remind them of the expected school behaviour and identify consequences of continued unacceptable behaviour.
- 5. Debrief: At an appropriate time when there is low risk of re-escalation, help the student to identify the sequence of events that led to the unacceptable behaviour, pinpoint decision moments during the sequence of events, evaluate decisions made, and identify acceptable decision options for future situations.



## Resources

- <u>Australian Professional Standards for Teachers</u>
- Behaviour Foundations professional development package (school employees only)
- Bullying. No Way!
- <u>eheadspace</u>
- Kids Helpline
- Office of the eSafety Commissioner
- Parent and community engagement framework
- Parentline
- Queensland Department of Education School Discipline
- Raising Children Network
- Student Wellbeing Hub



# Conclusion

Mackenzie State Primary School staff are committed to ensuring every student is supported to feel safe, welcome and valued in our school. There may, however, be occasions where parents need to raise a concern or make a complaint about an issue you feel is adversely affecting their child's education.

All Queensland state schools are committed to ensuring that all complaints - whether they relate to a school staff member or a school's operations - are dealt with in a fair and equitable manner. As a parent or carer, you can express dissatisfaction with the service or action of the Department of Education or its staff, including decisions made or actions taken in a school and/or by the local regional office.

As a complainant, it is your responsibility to:

- give us a clear idea of the issue or concern and your desired solution
- provide all the relevant information when making the complaint
- understand that addressing a complaint can take time
- cooperate respectfully and understand that unreasonable, abusive, or disrespectful conduct will not be tolerated
- let us know if something changes, including if help is no longer needed.

# The Department of Education may not proceed with your complaint if your conduct is unreasonable.

In most instances, staff members are told of complaints made about them and offered the right of reply. A complainant also has the right to have a support person throughout the process.

The following three-step approach assists parents and school staff in reaching an outcome that is in the best interests of the student:

1. **Early resolution**: discuss your complaint with the school

The best place to raise any concerns is at the point where the problem or issue arose. You can make an appointment at the school to discuss your complaint with your child's teacher or the principal. You are also welcome to lodge your complaint in writing or over the phone. You can also make a complaint through <u>QGov</u>.

Complaints may be lodged by telephone, writing or in electronic format. Email addresses can be accessed through the <u>schools directory</u>.

2. Internal review: contact the local Regional Office

If, after taking the early resolution step, you are dissatisfied with the outcome of your complaint or how the complaint was handled, you can ask the local <u>regional office</u> to conduct a review. You need to submit a <u>Request for internal review form</u> within 28 days of receiving the complaint outcome.

#### 3. External review: contact a review authority

if you are dissatisfied after the internal review, you may wish to contact a review authority, such as the Queensland Ombudsman, and request an independent, external review. More information about external review options is available at www.ombudsman.gld.gov.au.



Some matters need to be handled in a different way to school matters and will be referred to other areas in the department. These include:

- issues about harm, or risk of harm, to a student attending a state school, which must be managed in accordance with the <u>Student protection procedure.</u>
- complaints about corrupt conduct, public interest disclosures; or certain decisions made under legislation, which will be dealt with as outlined in the <u>Excluded complaints</u> <u>factsheet</u>.



		ARRIVAL AND DEPARTURE	Before school: stored area untde cover area untde cover area unde cover area scorers in the grounds	•Store bikes and scotters in secure against before 8.40		<ul> <li>Use own blks/ societ only</li> <li>Wab blied sector</li> <li>to the gate</li> </ul>
<b>TRIX</b>		TOILETS	•Wesh hands exerctly •Out Rayer •Put Rayer towels in the bin	<ul> <li>of to the tollets</li> <li>during "reak times</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Altaort to start contextra about contextra about collerts.</li> </ul>	●fisspect privacy ef others ●Lise trailats correctly
<b>DNS MA</b>		TRANSITONS & LINING-UP	•Keep passage ways Geven at all thres -Stayto the laft on paths paths	•Move stiently in tho straight lines		•Malk culotive past
PECTATIC		OFFICE	•Use student entrance	<ul> <li>Face a signed office - Altimetical Sub with you.</li> <li>Altimetical Sub with yours - Altimetical Subjections are to be brought to the properties and Suppedia paperwork, paperwork,</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Strow members of strowing tents and wounters courtesy by waiting quietly.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Speak respect/ully</li> <li>All's your sun</li> <li>Sit culedy in the</li> <li>off for area</li> </ul>
WIDE EX	)OL:	TUCKSHOP	•ine up Apropria:eit	<ul> <li>Order before school</li> <li>Frond ony tran</li> <li>Frond whet you want</li> <li>before being served</li> </ul>		•Wait patiently for     •Tautonty     •Tautonty     •Samatk cuerty     •Samatk cuerty and     use polite words
ATE PRIMARY SCHOOL: SCHOOL WIDE EXPECTATIONS MATRIX	STUDENTS AT MACKENZIE STATE SCHOOL:	STAIRS / RAMPS & VERANDAS	<ul> <li>crederly so that disturbed disturbed</li> <li>Adhere to out of - Adhere to out of - Mark on anys and wax on anys and warandes</li> </ul>	n yllatsceau avon erica file ano van sica avon sica avon	<ul> <li>Show manufacts of the bublic, parents and outuritiers countrept by allowing them to use the statist immps before you.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pails are for hands time. One step at a time.</li> <li>Carry items</li> <li>Carry items</li> <li>Keep passage ways clear at all times</li> </ul>
HOOL: S	S AT MACKEN	OFFSITE: SPORT & EXCURSIONS	•Stay with your Hearn Plearnan asoled on public transport	<ul> <li>Presente fulty for existive to the existive to the instructions of your crash and your crash and your crash and your crash and your crash and your crash and y</li></ul>	•Show members of and policity parents and voluntees countees and expressions wearing untorms.	<ul> <li>Bispian positive automatical positive automatical other venues, especiations and follow them.</li> </ul>
IARY SCI	STUDENTS	PLAYGROUND	<ul> <li>Lise playgrounds</li> <li>Lise playgrounds</li> <li>When a blugs are when a sluces and socks and it. Immas</li> <li>Be sun safe, wear a broad brimmed hat</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Make the right</li> <li>devices when in the playground</li> <li>Invite abopt at ploin</li> <li>your game</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Hells make friends and ap happer Be a problem solver Stry a problem solver distance from player nests</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participate in school epicond games</li> <li>Play fairy- take tums, invite others tuns, invite others tuids</li> <li>Actum equipment to epicprist place environment</li> </ul>
ATE PRIN		UNDERCOVER AREA (EATING)	Walk     Walk     Searcan dunkess     using bins, to lets or     tut bins,     tut bins     where the     variant data     your controld.	Bring functhtax     Eatroy     Eatroy     To and games to     to any and games to     the saved for     the saved for     the any and any and any and     the laft in tunch     taster to be laft     taster     tas	<ul> <li>Encourage triands to six with you and six therats in your approvalate conversations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Stay seated and wells your hand while wells your hand while to release you to play - Puryour writhout - Puryour writhout estel of the ask of three of homes, your area for eny rubish.</li> </ul>
<b>MACKENZIE ST</b>		ONLINE	•Kess any Josernanes • Table (1985) • Foldow al. teacher instructors about instructors about intermation online sites online sites	<ul> <li>Ask question on what you find and what you find and concests of colvises and phones are to handed in to the handed in to the oritize before school</li> </ul>	Report to a tracher     her vunctopicable     her vunctopicable     e Post only     appropriate     content online	<ul> <li>Participare in use of expressional spress &amp; expressional spress e.et countecus and e.et countecus and etspect others' right to use of ine resources the resources the resou</li></ul>
MACKE		CLASSROOM	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	<ul> <li>Yeu atheve batter results when you go results when you go results when you go results when you go when work state they work state they work state they work state when you and you when you and you hinterest in subjects</li> </ul>	•Be horist	<ul> <li>Raiss your hand to savek</li> <li>Research thera' right to tax</li> <li>Research the same a jak in tume</li> <li>Res a good lister of a das' spon when a das' spon when a das' spon when there</li> </ul>
<u>.</u>	¥2	SCHOOLWIDE	<ul> <li>-Keep hands, feet,</li> <li>-Keep hands, feet,</li> <li>-Be in the right place as</li> <li>-Be in the right place as reacting school</li> <li>-Move a round school</li> <li>-Move and arden school</li> <li>-Move and round school</li> <li>-Move and school</li> <li>-Move and school</li> <li>-Move and</li></ul>	Every day at school     Every day at school     white at school     white at school     or -fime, rested and     teaching the school     leave the classroom     wask permassion to     address of the classroom     a	<ul> <li>Incluce and -Incluce and threshows in pay -Natus pools as -Natus pools as -Natus pools as -Natus pools as -Natus pools as -Nature of the -As an uniform proudy: -As an uniform proudy:</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Use kind varies and -Use indexes</li> <li>Listen actively -fiction in structions straight away -Carsh parameter -Carsh parameter -Carsh parameter -Carsh parameter -Carsh parameter -Proved garders and which ite</li> </ul>
×,			SAFE	ON-TASK	ATTUDE OF HONOUR	RESPECT

### Mackenzie State Primary School: School Wide Expectation Matrix



# Appendix A



#### Mackenzie State Primary School: SOAR Expectation Posters





### Mackenzie State Primary School: SOAR Reward Certificates









Appendix B

### Mackenzie State Primary School Behaviour Flow Chart







If three major referrals occur more than three times in one term, a letter will be sent home and a loss of school privileges will occur.



return.

					Minor Inappropriate	ppropriate	Major Inappropriate	opropriate
Behaviour	Code	Definition	SOAR Expectation Links	Trivial	Example	Non Example	Example	Non Example
Bullying/ Harassment	на	Purposely hurting or overpowering another physically and/emotionally on an ongoing continuous basis.	A.L. Include & concertor with A.L. Include & concertor with A.D. Vulla propertor as special and argue A.D. Unite propertor and second A.L. Unite bird works and accone. R.L. Unite bird works and accone.		• Bullying is never a minor behaviour	<ul> <li>Refer to non-examples in the major behaviour and bullying definition</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sustained sargeting (physical, verbal, written, sexting) of the ame person;</li> <li>Staring repeated y at a specific part of the body.</li> </ul>	One off fighthreg, name calling, notes; Commercing about Comper's lock. Acceptable humour without malice.
Default / Disrespect / Threats to adults	8	Verbal or physical gesture that is intended to harm and/or cause fear	Co.7 Uber specie series keel A.2. State people and series A.2. State people and series A.2. State people and and series A.2. Stream (and and and and A.2. Stream (and and and and A.2. Stream (and and and and B.2. Fellow (instructions shift) wave B.2. Fellow (instructions shift) wave B.3. Fellow (instructions shift) wave	<ul> <li>Piaying in wrong area</li> <li>"No, I don't want to."</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Not paying attention</li> <li>Refusal to work</li> <li>Rolling eves</li> <li>Smirbing faces</li> <li>Making faces</li> <li>Making faces</li> <li>Making faces</li> <li>externing class withcut permission adult</li> <li>erterning class withcut permission</li> <li>erterning class</li> <li>erterning class</li> <li>with defact to adult to "</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Refusal to follow directions due to a skill deficit outually sensitive behaviours (such as refusal to sing Arthem for some refusal source, eve contact for Aboriginal studens)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Using offensive language di- reced at adults</li> <li>refusal comments like "You can't make me."</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Student swearing after stub- bing their toe. or a comment like. "1 can't do this. This is stupid."</li> </ul>
Disruptive	۵	Behavfour that results in an inter- vention in the class, school routes or school activity,	e and the hands, they, bodies and sheets to call adding, then, bodies and sheets to call adding that as it the right rank and \$2.8 Move started the solid and adding \$2.8 Move started the solid and adding \$3.8 Move started to solid adding \$3.8 Move started to solid adding \$3.9 Move started to solid \$3.9 Mole solid start \$3.9 Mole solid start \$3.9 Mole solid start \$3.0 Mole solid start \$3.0 Mole solid started \$3.0 Mole solid started \$3.	<ul> <li>Petty interruptions</li> <li>Joke celling</li> <li>noises</li> <li>mowing around</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>calling out with intert to disrupt</li> <li>eaving seat without permission</li> <li>leaving seat without permission</li> <li>inappropriate, non-related comments</li> <li>non-related comparission</li> <li>couching order people or their</li> <li>property</li> <li>Throwing objects - utpoint ingendis</li> <li>Throwing objects without incent</li> <li>Playing with objects</li> <li>Leaving chair without permission</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Getting up and sharpering a pendid</li> <li>Maior IB oud noises which are disability related</li> <li>Maior Boud noises which are disability related</li> <li>disability related</li> <li>divinitencional dislocation of ob- tinough anthusissim</li> <li>Uninternonal dislocation of ob- lets - droping perclis, trubbers of the flow have difficulty</li> <li>maintaining focus due to medical relation flowers</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sustained yelling</li> <li>Sustained yelling</li> <li>rupt activities and learning opportunities of athers</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Moving or seeking sensory input without inserrupting learning</li> </ul>
Dreis Code	DC	Students wearing inspiroorliste doching to school for an activity	A characterization of the many contract of the many	<ul> <li>Wearing a non-school coloured jumper</li> </ul>	Wearing a shirt with an inappro- wearing short skirs/shorts     Wearing short skirs/shorts     Wearing non-sun safe clothing     Wearing non-sun safe clothing     Not wearing broad brim or buck- Not wearing broad brim or buck- Not wearing broad brim or buck- et al rout and in face	Koc wearing school uniform due draft scrimsolates out of chil- draft scrimoil draft scrimoil draft scrimoil e parent insbility to provide the parent insbility to provide the clothing due to fhancial difficulty	Administrative Discretion	Administrative Discretion
I.T. Misconduct	E	Inappropriate use of any electronic devices	<ol> <li>S.S. Une evaluation of the right work</li> <li>S.S. Une evaluation of the procession above</li> <li>Station of the procession above of contine oxides a second and unsuper second and unsubset.</li> <li>A.S. Arrest is repeated above and accurate second and unsuper second and</li></ol>	<ul> <li>Being on a game instead of completing the task set by a teacher</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Persistently visits inappropriate exercises</li> <li>Persistently refuses to use the set task and uses other apps set task and uses other apps</li> <li>bringing personal IT devices to school without handing them to the office</li> </ul>	Accidentally clicking onco a banned website banning of baseroords.     Banned website another's pass-     Baseronal I.T devices to words     words     words     words and signing them into the office and signing them into the office.	<ul> <li>Posting photos of other students them</li> <li>posting inflammatory comments</li> <li>posting inflammatory comments</li> <li>constraind frames</li> <li>to school that containd inspiropriate containd</li> <li>pomography and games</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Making posts about others with no intent to emiaarrass but without their awareness</li> </ul>

### Mackenzie State Primary School Behaviour Flow Chart

					Minor Inappropriate	propriate	Major Inap	Major Inappropriate
Behaviour	Code	Definition	SOAR Expectation Links	Trivial	Example	Non Example	Example	Non Example
Late	L	Late from lunch breaks or activities outside the classroom	5.2: Be in the right place at the right time 0.5: Manage your time effect vely	<ul> <li>Parent being late</li> <li>Sick</li> <li>Upset</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Deliberate failure to return to class after an acceptable amount of time: after breask/toileting</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Authorised cool down time</li> <li>At an official school appointment e.g. Guidance Officer</li> </ul>	Administrative discretion	Administrative discrection
Lying/Cheating	2J	Student delivers message that is untrue and / or deliberately vio- lates rules and / or harms others	A.G. Accept responsibility for behaviour R.L.: Use kind words and actions	<ul> <li>Student states they have competed a task when they haven't</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lie affects others and causes an escalation of behaviours</li> <li>plagiarism (copying)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>lying about a reason for not completing a task/homework</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Staff accused of physical/verbal assault but found with evidence that the incident did not occur</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Offering a statement as a 'witness' where information is based on hearsay only</li> </ul>
Misconduct Involving an object Weapons	OM	Inappropriate use of an object for the non-intended purpose of that object	5.1. Keep hands, leet, bodies and objects to outsidens Six Use equipments the right way R. S. Use etaipment the right way R. S. Greetdyp part tobiols in the bin R. S. Protect gardens and widdlig R. S. Protect gardens and widdlig	• Throwing a stick at a tree to get a ball down	<ul> <li>Chasing someone with a stick, or object without the intent to hurt or harm</li> <li>Throwing food at another stu- dent</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Swinging a pencil case or lunch- box arcund</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Using an object to deliberately cause injury</li> </ul>	
Non-Compliant with routine		Behaving in a way that does not comply with classroom and playground routines		<ul> <li>Do not enter this category into One School. Please use other categories e.g. defiance, disrup- tion to define the non- compliance</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Do not enter this category into Che School. Please use other categories e.g. defiance, disruption to define the non-compliance</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Do not enter this category into One School. Please use other categories e.g. defiance, disruption to define the non-compliance</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Do not enter this category into One School. Please use other categories e.g. defiance, disruption to define the non-compliance</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Do not enter this category into One School. Please use other categorise e.g. defiance, disruption to define the non-compliance</li> </ul>
Other conduct prejucicial to the good order and management of the school	5	Uhssfe behaviour	S.L.Reep.hands, fort, fords, fort to S.Z.Rein for right place and objects to S.Z.Rein a new of the vision and chardcom by S.Meine a new of the vision and chardcom S.S.Use equipment the right cupy S.S.Use equipment the right cupy	Making unintentional contact with peers as part of a game.	Riching skateboards/scootens/ bless in grounds Running on the concrete or verandas Siching on the scart railing Siching on the start railing Sithing on the out of the Playing bell games out of the designated areas Spirting on the sconol Petshing around the school waiking around the school	Riding stateboards/scaceters as - Using: Out of the OOSI-C crrogram - Using: Out of bounds' area between undercover area and office to get to classes when it is raining	<ul> <li>Any minor unsafe behaviour that causes harm or injury to another person or school property</li> </ul>	•
Physical msconcuct (fighting)	*	Fighting or actions that involve physical contact	autophysical period and objects to autobless and objects to AL2 Value period as social and unique to the ob-Machana and and and undoot algorisation. AL5 Accept responsibility for toholour AL1.104 kind words and and and	<ul> <li>Petty or non-consensual contact</li> <li>cripping into another</li> </ul>	The following actoms are done in self-defence with reasonable force:     hitmos     hitmos	<ul> <li>student touches achers while waiting in line pushing in Rough and tumble play that does not escalate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>hurding another</li> <li>punching</li> <li>ehoking</li> <li>choking</li> <li>scratching</li> <li>splitting</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>landing on another during a game</li> </ul>
Possess prohibited items		Possessing on their person or in their bag an item declared by the school as prohibited		<ul> <li>Do not use, refer to "Prohibited Items"</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Do not use, refer to "Prohibited Items"</li> </ul>	Do not use, refer to "Prohibited     Items"	• Do not use, refer to "Prohibited Items"	<ul> <li>Do not use, refer to "Prohibited Items"</li> </ul>
Prohibited Items	۵	Possessing or using an item declared by the school as prohibited	5.5.4. Use equipment the right way 5.8. We only Bring approved lifems to school	<ul> <li>Bringing to school:</li> <li>Chewing gum</li> <li>Trading cards</li> <li>Games</li> <li>Toys</li> </ul>	Being in possession of an object capable of causing bodily harm ee, Pooker kinfa Being in possession of combusti- Being in possession of combusti- lincuding spray deodorant)	<ul> <li>having a knife to cut up their fruit</li> <li>Finding a combustble item in the school grounds and surrendering it to the office</li> </ul>	• Use an item as a weapon to harm or threaten harm	<ul> <li>bringing a cultural item to school for a curriculum task (which could be considered a weapon)</li> </ul>
Property Misconduct	Md	Participating in an activity that results in damage, destruction or dsfigurement of property	S.S.Like equilarment (e) it was a compared and other was a factor for periods in a Factor for periods in the factor of the second and other and overall is in the factor of the second and the se	<ul> <li>Accidentally breaking own belongings</li> </ul>	Throwing, kicking or breaking someone else's belongings or social property - Accidental breakage through rough behaviour rough behaviour school equipments school equipments     Wastage of school material	<ul> <li>Falling or tripping and breaking object during fall.</li> <li>Oropping lunch or wrappers on the floor</li> <li>breaking pencils</li> </ul>	Deliberately impairs the useful- ness of property, Netking hole in wall e throwing or breaking furmiture or resources staffin	- Falling/Deing pushed into a wall Break a window while playing
				•	•	•	•	•



					Minor Inap	Minor Inappropriate	Major Inappropriate	opropriate
Behaviour	Code	Definition	SOAR Expectation Links	Trivial	Example	Non Example	Example	Non Example
Refusal to Participate in program of instruction	œ	Non-Verbally or verbally refusing to partopate in activities or engage in tasks	Cla Add permission more the clustroom O At Guidemont is ready and cognition between the ready and cognition Cost Kinnago and the cluster Add the second the read of the second R.3. ( Blow instructions as table) a second	<ul> <li>Student is unwell or emotionally upset</li> </ul>	Arriving at class unprepared to work     Continual refusal to participate in tasks.     Not attempting work at their level     Destroying work	<ul> <li>Change behaviour after being given choicss or take up finne en Rota criving with materials due to factors outside their control factors outside their control factors outside their control of tactors outside their control of tactors outside their control of tactors outside their control of tactors outside their control material for the tactor skill deficiency or work which is too hard.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Disuptive to the class and/or leaving the room without permission</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Student self regulates without permission, but returns to task</li> </ul>
Substance Misconduct involving illicit substances	SI	Student is under the influence or is in possession of illegal substances	O.8: We only bring approved items to school		<ul> <li>Substance misconduct is never a minor behaviour please refer to Administration</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Substance misconduct is never a minor behaviour please refer to Administration</li> </ul>	Administration discretion	Administration discretion
Substance Misconduct involving tobacco and other legal substances	۶۲	Student is under the influence substances that are not prescribed for and/or suitable for the age of the child	0.8. We only bring approved items to school		<ul> <li>Substance misconduct is never a minor behaviour please refer to Administration</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Substance misconduct is never a minor behaviour please refer to Administration</li> </ul>	Administrative Discretion but may include: Oninking and: Oninking and: Oninking and Bringing prescribed/non Bringing prescribed/non school and not handing it in to school and not handing it in to the offic the offic to state a ubstance student in possession of a tobacco substance	<ul> <li>Prescribed medication accompanied by a doctor's letter and with parent corrent - bits is to be kept or the office.</li> <li>Where a medical condition ex- tiss: Asthma purfer, diabetes kit, cough losenges products in the school grounds and surrender- ing it to the office</li> </ul>
Third minor referral	m	3 minor incidents in which a yellow i reflection card has been given within a period of seven days, treat as major.	A.6. Accept responsibility for behaviour				Third Yellow Card in a 7 day period	
Thread's to others	2	Any verbal or non-verbal threat to a person's physical or emotional wellbeing.	on 11 comparing the fact, bodies and objects to on 11 comparing the equipments of the equipment of the equipments of 21 there in appropriate works level of 21 there in a second and uncoper A. 4. Use the Aukdennia 21 to unive problems A. 4. Use the Aukdennia 21 to unive problems A. 4. Durb indiversal 21 to unive problems A. 5. Durb indiversal and existing A. 5. Durb indiversal and existing B. 2. Littern actively B. 2. Follow instructions straight away	<ul> <li>Saying the thing in the heat of the moment without intention to follow through</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Saying/doing something with the rifetu of causing a reaction e.g., rifeth, fight." Don't listen to them"</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Making generalised comments</li> <li>e.g. "All boys are stupid"</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Saying/doing something with the inter of causing a reaction ag. "Fight, fight, "Dou't listen to them" and violence occurs as a result</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Spreading rumours and gossip</li> </ul>
Truant/Skip Class	TS	Unexplained absence with or without parent's knowledge	5.2: Be in the right place at the right time 0.1: Every stated cuarts 0.2: Artive at school on time, rested and ready to fearm 0.3: Adk permission to leave the classroom		<ul> <li>At school but absent from lessons without approval</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Arriving late and can't find the class</li> </ul>	Truanting	<ul> <li>Fail to notify the school of an absence</li> </ul>
Verbal Misconduct	>	Any spoken, written or non-verbal communication that insults, mocks, belitties or slanders another. Occuring once or over a very short period of time. For ongoing, continuous behaviour please use Bullying/harrassment	Invaluence (Inclusion) and the second	<ul> <li>Infrequent random comments shouting back as a staff member</li> <li>Saying unpleasant or derogatory words that are not directed as a person e.g. "stupid" or "ugly"</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Swearing that is not directed at comeone</li> <li>Comments or gestures directed at a person targeting race, at a person targeting race, at a person targeting race, "Tossing or name calling e.g.</li> <li>Tossing or name calling e.g.</li> <li>Tossing or name calling e.g.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Student calling out/yelling to another student.</li> <li>Calling out to a teacher across the oval/room</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Using offensive, threatening, exaul comoration words or gestures directed at another e.g., "I'll scratch/bash you"</li> <li>'I'll scratch/bash you"</li> <li>'Our mother is</li> <li>Your mother is</li> <li>Stop showing your c''''</li> <li>Using hands in sexually explicit mannerisms</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>See that (black fellow, slope, fatty) over there, he's my mate</li> <li>Words between friends - "Let's go and play bg a" e"</li> </ul>
Other	0	To be completed only by administration		To be completed only by administration	To be completed only by administration	To be completed only by administration	To be completed only by administration	To be completed only by administration



## Mackenzie State Primary School 'Think About It' and 'Reflection' Cards

Studient Name:		Class:
Location:	Date:	Time:
What happened?		
Who was affected?		
whole class teach		
What Zone were you ir		
🕮 🗆 Blue 🛛 😡	Green SLOW	Yellow STOP     Re
What school expectat	ion should I have b	een following?
🗆 Sate		
□ Safe □ On-Task		
□ Safe □ On-Task □ Attitude of Honour _		
What school expectat           Sate           On-Task           Attitude of Honour           Respect		
Safe On-Task Attitude of Honour Respect	need to do now?	
Sate On-Task Attitude of Honour Respect Next steps: What do I	need to do now?	
Sate On-Task Attitude of Honour Respect Next steps: What do I apologise Clean	need to do now? up	is:
Sate On-Task Children of Honour Respect Respe	need to do now? up	is:
Sate         On-Task         Attitude of Honour         Respect         Next steps: What do I         apologise       clean         Ay behaviour SMART g	need to do now? up	is:

M			and the second se
		ed behaviour has been di teacher distatfmer	
	disrespect to a:	in class in the pla	
	disrespect to:	□ school property □ in class □ in the pla	student property
	continued disrup	tion in class after being give	n a warning
		k behaviour after being give	
	unsate behaviou	r: 🗆 in class 🗆 in the play	ground
	other:		
		5 Minutes 10 Minut hink About It" page	les
Staff Me	ember Name:		Office Use Only Porent contact by:
		Date:	Parent contact by: Classroom Teacher
Signed:			Parent contact by: Classroom Teacher Principal
Signed: I agree	to work on my be	Date:	Parent contact by: Cassoom Teacher Principal Other Contact by: Telephone Email
Signed: I agree I agree	to work on my be to support my chil	_Date:	Parent contact by: Classoom Teacher Phincipal Other Contact by: Telephone Email In Person

Student Name:	
Location:Da What happened?	ite: lime:
Who was affected?	
□ whole class □ teacher □ stud	lent/s:
What Zone were you in?	· ·
Blue GO 🛛 Green	SLOW D Yellow STOP D Re
What school expectation should	I have been following?
🗆 Safe	
🛛 On-Task	
Attitude of Honour	
🗆 Respect	
Next steps: What do I need to do	o now?
🗆 apologise 🛛 clean up 🛛	other:
My behaviour SMART goal going	) forward is:
For the next I week I fortnight	ht 🛛 other:
When I	
l will	
To make sure I have achieved m	ny goal, I will check in with
	on(date)
(Teacher name)	

	ackenzi			~		
The fol	lowing unexp	ected beh	avio <b>ur ha</b> s b	een disp	layed:	
	repeated disr	espect to a				
_	remember of allow		D in class			
U	repeated disr	espect to:	D in class			
	continued dis		ass after being	g given a	Think Abo	ut It Card
	continued off					
	dangerous be Two (2) Think					
	other:		da intritio pone	0.011100	(0) 501 1001	uuys.
Resulti						
	Reflection Tim	e with Princ	inal			
	Reflection Tim					
	Completion o			ict		
	Consoquenes	∋ Task;				
	Consequence					
					Olice Use O	ay .
Notes:	ember Name: .				Parent conta	xct by:
Notes: Staff Me					Parent conta	act by: com Teacher col
Notes: Staff Me	ember Name: ,		_Date:		Parent conto Class Princip Contact by:	act by: com Teacher col
Notes: Staff Me	ember Name: ,		_Date:		Parent conto Class Princip Contact by: Tetepl Email	act by: com Teacher col
Notes: Staff Me	ember Name: ,		_Date:		Parent conto Class Princip Contact by: Tetepl	act by: com Teacher col
Notes: Staff Me Signed: Lagree	ember Name: ,	behaviour	_ Date: SMART Goal:		Parent conto Class Princip Other Contact by: Tetepi Email	act by: com Teacher col
Notes: Staff Me Signed: Lagree	ember Name: , to work on my	behaviour child with th	_ Date: SMART Goal: heir SMART Go		Parent conic Parent conic Princip Contact by: Tetepi Email In Per One School	xct by: com Teacher cal mone
Notes: Staff Me Signed: I agree	ember Name: . to work on my	behaviour child with th	_ Date: SMART Goal: heir SMART Go		Parent conic Parent conic Princip Other Contact by: Telepi Email Dime School	xct by: com Teacher xal hone son Entry://